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I. INTRODUCTION
A. Procedural Background

The Securities and Exchange Commission (Commission) initiated this proceeding against
Executive Registrar & Transfer, Inc. (Executive), and John J. Donnelly (Donnelly) (together,
Respondents) on February 22, 2008, with its Order Instituting Administrative and Cease-and-
Desist Proceedings (OIP). This proceeding was brought pursuant to Sections 17A(c)(3),
17A(c)(4), and 21C of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act)." On June 13, 2008,
a letter from Respondents, dated May 28, 2008, was filed with the Office of the Secretary, which
has been construed as their Answer. (Prehearing Tr. 3, July 1, 2008.)

During a prehearing conference held on July 1, 2008, with the Division of Enforcement
(Division) and Donnelly (representing himself and Executive, pro se) in attendance, the Division
requested and was granted leave to file a motion for summary disposition pursuant to 17 C.F.R. 8§
201.250. The Division filed its motion and accompanying exhibits on July 31, 2008, and a letter
of response from the Respondents was received on September 2, 2008, to which the Division
filed a reply on September 4, 2008.

1 Any “Sections” referenced in this decision will refer to sections of the Exchange Act.



B. Standards for Summary Disposition

In assessing the summary disposition record, the facts, as well as the reasonable
inferences that may be drawn from them, must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-
moving party. See Felix v. N.Y. City Transit Auth., 324 F.3d 102, 104 (2d Cir. 2003); O’Shea v.
Yellow Tech. Svcs., Inc., 185 F.3d 1093, 1096 (10th Cir. 1999); Cooperman v. Individual, Inc.,
171 F.3d 43, 46 (1st Cir. 1999).

By analogy to Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a factual dispute between
the parties will not defeat a motion for summary disposition unless it is both genuine and
material. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986). Once the moving
party has carried its burden, “its opponent must do more than simply show that there is some
metaphysical doubt as to the material facts.” Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.,
475 U.S. 574, 586 (1986). The opposing party must set forth specific facts showing a genuine
issue for a hearing and may not rest upon mere allegations or denials of its pleadings. At the
summary disposition stage, the administrative law judge’s function is not to weigh the evidence
and determine the truth of the matter, but rather to determine whether there is a genuine issue for
resolution at a hearing. See Anderson, 477 U.S. at 249.

The findings and conclusions of this decision are based on the entire record, which
consists of the OIP, Respondents’ Answer and correspondence, and all motions, orders, and
replies.” See 17 C.F.R. § 201.350. Official notice is taken of the Commission’s public official
records concerning Respondents.®> See 17 C.F.R. § 201.323. There is no genuine issue with
regard to any material fact. Thus, this proceeding may be resolved by summary disposition. See
17 C.F.R. § 201.250. Any other facts in Respondents’ pleadings have been taken as true, in light

2 References in this decision to the Commission’s Order Instituting Administrative and Cease-
and-Desist Proceedings will be cited as “(OIP at ___.)” References to Respondents’ letter dated
May 28, 2008, replying to the Division’s Motion for Default, which served as the Respondents’
Answer to the OIP in the proceeding, will be cited as “(Answer at ___.)” The Division’s Reply
to Respondents’ Answer and Motion for Leave to File for Summary Disposition will be cited as
“(Mot. at ___.)” The Division’s Motion for Summary Disposition and Memorandum of Law in
Support will be cited as “(Div. Br. at ___.)” and the Exhibits contained therein will be cited as
“(Ex. ___.)” References to the Respondents’ letter dated August 29, 2008, in response to the
Division’s Motion for Summary Disposition and the Division’s Reply in Support of Motion for
Summary Disposition will be cited as will be cited “(Resp’t Br. at ___.)” and “(Div. Reply Br. at
___.),” respectively. References to Respondents’ letter dated June 6, 2008, replying to the
Division Examiner Timothy Dunn’s June 12, 2007, letter to the Respondents regarding
deficiencies found at the November 2006 examination of Executive and noted in Dunn’s
Deficiency Letter of February 16, 2007, (Ex. 5), will be cited as “(Resp’t Letter __.)” The
Division’s October 28, 2008, submission of Supplemental Affidavit of Timothy Dunn to clarify
Paragraph C of Division’s Exhibit 2, will be cited as “(Div. Aff. )"

® These include, but are not limited to, prior Commission releases relating to Donnelly and his
former transfer agency, United Stock Transfer, Inc. (United), filings made with the Commission
by United and Executive found in the Commission’s EDGAR database, and filings made by the
companies with state regulatory agencies.



of the Division’s burden of proof. See Id. All arguments and proposed findings and conclusions
that are inconsistent with this decision were considered and rejected.

C. Allegations and Positions of the Parties

The OIP alleges that Executive is registered with the Commission pursuant to Section
17A(c)(2) (OIP at 1) and that it has violated the following sections of the Exchange Act and
various rules thereunder: Executive has not upheld its recordkeeping and reporting obligations
under Section 17(a)(3) (OIP at 4); it has not fingerprinted employees as required by Section
17(F)(2) (1d.); and it has engaged in activity in contravention of Commission rules for transfer
agents, thus violating Section 17A(d)(1) (OIP at 2-4)." The OIP further alleges that Donnelly
aided and abetted in Executive’s aforementioned violations, as well as similar violations of
another registered transfer agent over which Donnelly had control prior to the agent’s voluntary
deregistration and dissolution. (OIP at5.)

The Division requests the entry of an order requiring Executive to cease and desist from
committing or causing violations of the federal securities laws pursuant to Section 21C, the
imposition of civil penalties in the amounts of $10,000 and $25,000 against Donnelly and
Executive, respectively, pursuant to Section 21B, the revocation of Executive’s registration as a
transfer agent pursuant to Section 17A(c)(3)(A), and the entry of a permanent bar on Donnelly
from association with any transfer agent pursuant to Section 17A(c)(4)(C). (Div. Br. at 16-19.)

Respondents contend generally that they have not violated the securities statutes and rules
as alleged by the Division. (Answer; Resp’t Letter; Resp’t Br.) Further, Donnelly requested a
jury trial at which he would add and address complaints that he has regarding perceived failings
on the part of the Commission to pursue the illicit activities of others who are not parties to this
proceeding.” (Resp’t Br. at 4.)

* In its Motion for Summary Disposition, the Division asserts that Executive violated Exchange
Act Rule 17Ad-5. This claim was not charged in the OIP, but has been subsequently mentioned
in the Division’s later filings. The claim of violation of Rule 17Ad-5 first appeared in the
Division’s June 19, 2008, Reply. (Mot. at 8.) In the Division’s Motion for Summary
Disposition, the Division notes that Executive has violated Rule 17Ad-5, but never discusses
details of the violation. (Div. Br. at 13.) Finally, a short argument is made regarding the
violation in the final filing by the Division on September 4, 2008. (Div. Reply Br. at 3-4.)
Because the claim was not charged in the OIP, this alleged violation will not be addressed in this
decision.

> The Division’s “failure” to investigate the purported misconduct alleged by Donnelly is not
properly before me, and the Commission’s Rules of Practice do not provide for jury trials.
Furthermore, agency decisions not to enforce statutes, rules, or regulations are presumptively
unreviewable. See Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821, 831-35 (1985); Chicago Bd. Of Trade v.
SEC, 883 F.2d 525, 530-31 (7th Cir. 1989); cf. Kixmiller v. SEC, 492 F.2d 641, 644-45 (D.C.
Cir. 1974). The presumption may be rebutted where the substantive statute has provided
guidelines for the agency to follow in exercising its enforcement powers. See Chaney, 470 U.S.
at 832-33. However, that is not the situation presented here. The conduct of others alleged by




Il. FINDINGS OF FACT
A. Respondents

Executive is a Colorado corporation with its principal place of business in Englewood,
Colorado.® In the summer of 2004, Executive changed its name from Executive Registrar &
Transfer Agency, Inc., to its current name, Executive Registrar & Transfer, Inc.” Executive has
been registered with the Commission as a transfer agent since at least April 1982, pursuant to
Section 17A(c)(2),® and that registration (SEC File No. 084-00866) has remained active to the
present.” Executive is wholly-owned by Donnelly, who has been president since late 2003.*

Donnelly, a resident of Colorado, has been president of Executive at all times relevant to
these proceedings. Donnelly was also president and owner of a related party, United, from

Donnelly is neither a defense to the Respondents’ alleged violations, nor would it mitigate any
appropriate sanctions.

Executive was incorporated in Colorado under the name Executive Registrar & Transfer
Agency, Inc., through its filing of “Articles of Incorporation” on Form 200 on December 9,
2003, pursuant to the Colorado Business Corporation Act, CoLo. REv. STAT. § 7-102-103.
Under the leadership of Brian J. Kelley, Executive was incorporated in the State of New Mexico,
according to information provided by the New Mexico Public Regulation Commission, and
Executive was authorized to do business in the State of Arizona, according to information
provided through the Arizona Corporate Commission, State of Arizona Public Access System.
Corporate filings for Executive in New Mexico and Arizona ceased around the time of the
incorporation in Colorado, and the incorporation in New Mexico and the authorization in
Arizona were each subsequently revoked for failure to file required reports, according to
information from the New Mexico Public Regulation Commission and the Arizona Corporate
Commission.

" This name change was filed with the Colorado Secretary of State on June 4, 2004, and with the
Commission in a Form TA-1/A on August 3, 2004. In the filings with the Commission,
Executive’s original name had been listed as Executive Registrar and Transfer Agency, Inc.

® The Division represents March 22, 1982, as the registration date for Executive Registrar and
Transfer Agency, Inc. (Div. Br. at 2), and the Commission’s EDGAR database shows a Form
TA-1/A filed on that date. The Division also gives April 1982 as the date of registration. (Ex. 2
at 2.) However, the earliest Form TA-1 in EDGAR was from October 11, 1977. Given the age
of these filings, these Forms are archived and not easily accessible, and since the exact date of
Executive’s registration is not relevant to this proceeding, it is sufficient to note that the agency
has been registered since at least April 1982.

° During this period of continuous registration, the president/CEO of Executive has been Brian
J. Kelley, followed by Jack D. Kelley (Form TA-1/A filed August 11, 2003), and then John J.
Donnelly (Form TA-1/A filed November 3, 2003).

19 As noted previously, Executive was not incorporated in Colorado until December 2003, which
was the first time Donnelly was declared its president to a state regulatory body. However, in a
Form TA-1/A filed by Donnelly with the Commission in November 2003 and dated October 20,
2003, Donnelly is listed as the president of Executive beginning in September 2003.



approximately November 1991 until its dissolution.”* In 2001, the Commission, by consent,
authorized the issuance of an administrative and cease-and-desist order against Donnelly based
on his aiding and abetting and causing of violations of Exchange Act provisions pertaining to
transfer agents committed by United. See 75 SEC Docket 395.

B. Related Party

United was a Colorado corporation formed in March 1987 and administratively dissolved
in September 2004.2 United registered with the Commission as a transfer agent on May 1,
1987, and its registration was withdrawn effective April 6, 2004.* Donnelly controlled United
from 1991 to 2004. During that time, United was a party to two Commission proceedings both
ending in settlements that included cease-and-desist orders from future violations of Sections
17(a)(3) and 17A(d)(1) of the Exchange Act and various rules thereunder. See 75 SEC Docket
395; Alpha Tech Stock Transfer Trust, 70 SEC Docket 1276 (Aug. 26, 1999).

C. Donnelly is Subject to a Cease-and-Desist Order

In late 2000, the Commission instituted a proceeding against Donnelly and United in
response to numerous violations of federal securities statutes and rules committed by United and
aided and abetted and caused by Donnelly, which were discovered in the course of five separate
books and records examinations. See 75 SEC Docket at 395-396. The result of the proceeding
was a settlement entered in June 2001 by United and Donnelly with the Commission. See 75
SEC Docket 395. Of relevance to the current proceeding, this settlement included a cease-and-
desist order that commanded Donnelly not to cause any future violations of Sections 17(a)(3) and
17A(d)(1) and Exchange Act Rules* 17Ac2-1; 17Ac2-2; 17Ad-2; 17Ad-6; 17Ad-7; 17Ad-10;
17Ad-13; 17Ad-15; 17Ad-16; 17Ad-17; and 17f-2 thereunder.”™ See 75 SEC Docket at 397.

1 The exact date of Donnelly’s assumption of United’s presidency is unclear. In the

Commission’s 2001 proceeding against Donnelly, to which Donnelly consented to the findings,
the date of November 1991 is given as the beginning of Donnelly’s role as president of United.
See United Stock Transfer, Inc., 75 SEC Docket 395, 395 (June 1, 2001). However, the
Division’s Dunn Affidavit provides a starting date of January 1992. (Ex. 2 at 2.) Further, in a
Form TA-1/A filed by United with the Commission on August 14, 2000, Donnelly listed his
presidency beginning in July 1992.

12" United was administratively dissolved by the Colorado Secretary of State for failure to file
annual reports as required by Colorado Business Corporation Act, CoL0. REV. STAT. § 7-90-501.
3 The Division represents April 14, 2004, as the registration withdrawal date for United. (Ex. 2
at 2-3.) However, the Form TA-W filed on February 6, 2004, in the Commission’s EDGAR
database shows an effective date of April 6, 2004. The April 6 effective date corresponds to the
Exchange Act rule regarding withdrawal, which notes that “a notice to withdraw . . . shall
become effective on the sixtieth day after the filing thereof with the Commission.” See 17
C.F.R. 8 240.17Ac3-1(b).

14 All references to “Rules” in this decision refer to rules promulgated under the Exchange Act.
> The cease-and-desist order stipulated other Rules in addition to those listed above that are not
the subject of the current proceeding. See 75 SEC Docket at 397.




In the six-year period following the cease-and-desist order, the Commission’s Office of
Compliance Inspections and Examinations staff (staff) performed five audits on United and/or
Executive. (Ex. 2 at 2.) During these audits, deficiencies were found that violated all but one of
the statutes and rules in the June 2001 cease-and-desist order. (Exs. 5, 8, 10, 11a, 11b.)

The June 2001 order also required Donnelly and United to maintain procedures to assure

that:
(a)

(b)
(©)
(d)

(e)
(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

1)
(k)

Supplemental reports on Forms TA-1 are current, accurate, and timely filed with
the Commission, as required by Rule 17Ac2-1;'

Annual reports on Forms TA-2 are current, accurate, and timely filed with the
Commission, as required by Rule 17Ac2-2;"’

Items received for processing and transfer are turned around in a timely manner,
as required by Rule 17Ad-2;"

Proper records required by Rule 17Ad-6 are maintained;*®

Record retention requirements of Rule 17Ad-7 are followed;”

Documentation setting forth required share data for each issuer is maintained and
posted to the master securityholder file and control books, in accordance with
Rule 17Ad-10;*

Annual reports by an independent accountant examining agent’s internal
accounting controls and related procedures are prepared and timely filed with the
Commission, in accordance with Rule 17Ad-13;%

Written standards and procedures for the acceptance of signature guarantees are
established, as required by Rule 17Ad-15;%

Notice to the appropriate qualified registered securities depository is given at the
assumption or termination of transfer agent services in a timely manner, as
required by Rule 17Ad-16;*

Procedures to search for lost securityholders are established and followed, as
required by Rule 17Ad-17; % and

Non-exempt employees are fingerprinted and the fingerprints are submitted for
identification and processing, in accordance with Rule 17f-2.2°

18 During four subsequent examinations, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Exs. 8,

10, 11a, 11b.)

7 During one subsequent examination, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Ex. 8.)
'8 During one subsequent examination, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Ex.5.)
% During two subsequent examinations, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Exs. 11a,

11b.)

% During three subsequent examinations, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Exs. 10,

11a, 11b)

21 During one subsequent examination, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Ex. 11b.)

22 During two subsequent examinations, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Exs. 5, 8.)
2% During one subsequent examination, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Ex. 11b.)

% During one subsequent examination, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Ex. 11a.)
Further, shortly following an examination, the Commission examination staff noted another
deficiency related to this rule. (Ex. 7 at4.)

%> During one subsequent examination, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Ex. 11b.)



See 75 SEC Docket at 397-98.
D. Executive’s Violations of Exchange Act Rules Concerning Activities of Transfer Agents
1. Executive’s Violations of the Turnaround Rules

The Commission has established minimum performance standards for registered transfer
agents in connection with the timely cancellation and issuance of securities certificates. See
Requlation of Transfer Agents, 12 SEC Docket 853 (June 16, 1977). Registered transfer agents
must turnaround at least ninety percent of all routine items within three business days of receipt.
See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-2(a). The three-business-day turnaround requirement applies only to
routine items. However, the definition of a “routine” item is stated in the negative. See 17
C.F.R. 8 240.17Ad-1(i). Thus, an item received for transfer is deemed routine unless it falls
within the specified exceptions enumerated in Rule 17Ad-1(i)(1)-(8).

Further, Rule 17Ad-2(e) provides that those routine items not within the ninety percent
“must be turned around ‘promptly,” which, under usual circumstances, means within one
additional business day.” Regulation of Transfer Agents, 20 SEC Docket 1277, 1292 (Sept. 2,
1980) (Question 56); See 12 SEC Docket at 859. While the Exchange Act Rules do not order a
specific time for turnaround of these non-routine items, “[R]ule 17Ad-2(e) requires that all “non-
routine items shall receive diligent and continuous attention and shall be turned around as soon
as possible.”” 20 SEC Docket at 1294 (Question 60) (quoting Rule 17Ad-2(e)). The Commission
notes that “[t]his is a flexible standard dependent on the facts and circumstances of each case.”
Id.

Executive Fails to Exercise Diligence and Attention in Turning
around Shares in Newly Merged Entity

In May 2006, Executive was engaged as the transfer agent for an issuer who had merged
with another company and was responsible for the exchanging of shares in the company for
shares in the issuer. (Ex. 5 at 2.) During a Commission examination of Executive conducted in
November 2006 (Ex. 2 at 2), it was noted that only seventy-seven of the three hundred
shareholders who were owed stock certificates had been issued them after a period of six months
had passed (Ex. 2 at 4; Ex. 5 at 2). The staff explained in a deficiency letter dated February 16,
2007, that Executive’s failure to turnaround the shares was a violation of Rule 17Ad-2(e)(1) and
a violation of the June 2001 cease-and-desist order against Donnelly, as the control person of
Executive. (Ex. 5 at 2-3.)

In replying to the deficiency letter, Respondents, through counsel in a letter dated April
11, 2007, claimed the delay was due to insufficient information from broker-dealers,
compounded by a stock-split in the issuer which occurred following the merger. (EX. 6 at 4-5.)
The staff addressed Respondents’ claims in a June 12, 2007, letter to Respondents’ counsel. (Ex.
7.) In that letter, the staff clarified the violations cited in the deficiency letter as it appeared to
the staff that Respondents “misunderstood the nature or scope of the activity required to stay in

% During one subsequent examination, deficiencies related to this rule were found. (Ex.5.)



compliance.” (Ex. 2 at 4.) The staff noted that their examination had shown that Executive, in
fact, did have enough information to turnaround the merger shares. (Ex. 2 at 4; Ex. 7 at 2.) The
staff further explained that its examination revealed that the delay in turnaround was due to
Respondents’ (1) “unusual requests” for broker-dealer information and (2) demand for payment
from the broker-dealers. (Ex. 2 at 4-5; Ex. 7 at 3.)

Respondents failed to reply to the staff’s June 2007 clarification letter until June of 2008,
a year after the clarification letter was sent and three and a half months after this proceeding was
instituted.”” (Resp’t Letter at 1.) Rather than address the issues raised in the staff’s delinquency
and clarification letters, Donnelly blames the delay in processing these items on the Depository
Trust & Clearing Company (DTC), various broker-dealers participating in the transfer, the
Continuous Net Settlement System (operated by DTC), and the Commission. (Answer at 3;
Resp’t Letter at 5-6.) Donnelly does not explain his and Executive’s actions or provide proof or
support for his claims. (Resp’t Letter at 5-6; Answer at 3; Resp’t Br. at 3.)

Because the transfer involved was in connection with an exchange, the items subject to
the transfer were deemed non-routine. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-1(i)(5). As non-routine items,
the transfer of the issuer’s shares was not subject to the three-day turnaround requirement, but
rather needed to be turned around “as soon as possible.” See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-2(e)(1). The
Commission has recognized that the turnaround of such items “may involve several days.” See
Processing of Tender Offers within the National Clearance and Settlement System, 27 SEC
Docket 1158, 1165 n.65 (April 15, 1983). Respondents took several months. (Ex. 2 at 4, Ex. 5
at2.)

In the staff’s June 2007 clarification letter, it noted that the delay in transfer was the
result of requests for unnecessary information as well as payment disputes. (Ex. 7 at 3.) In his
reply to the June 2007 clarification letter, Donnelly does not directly state that nonpayment was
an issue in the transfer delay, nor does he respond to the staff’s assertion that it was. (Resp’t
Letter.) However, he vaguely mentions a problem with payment from the issuer in connection
with a violation of Rule 17Ad-16, discussed below. (Resp’t Letter at 6-7.) If Respondents were
delaying turnaround because of a payment dispute, the Commission has noted that such issues
can be handled in one of two ways. See 20 SEC Docket at 1284, 1288 (Questions 26 and 40). If
a transfer agent is refusing to transfer securities because of nonpayment of fees, then the transfer
agent must promptly return the items to the presentor. See 20 SEC Docket at 1284 (Question
26). There is no indication that Respondents returned items. The other option available in a
nonpayment situation is to retain the item, classify it as non-routine, and then “to give such non-
routine items ‘diligent and continuous attention,” which includes, among other things, frequent
and assiduous notification to the presentor that the item is being retained pending receipt of
transfer fees.” 20 SEC Docket at 1288 (Question 40) (quoting Exchange Act Rule 17Ad-
2(e)(1)). There is no indication that Respondents provided such notification.

" The Respondents’ letter is dated September 27, 2007, and June 6, 2008. The letter was not
filed with the Office of the Secretary until June 30, 2008.



2. Executive’s and United’s Untimely and Inadequate Filing of Forms and Reports
Required by the Commission

The combination of Rules 17Ac2-1 and 17Ac2-2 creates a framework for providing the
Commission with important information about the organization and activities of its registered
transfer agents. See Adoption of Revised Transfer Agent Forms and Related Rules, 35 SEC
Docket 679 (Mar. 27, 1986). These rules complement the Commission’s registered transfer
agent inspection program and allow the Commission to more effectively and efficiently monitor
the activities of these registered agents. See 35 SEC Docket at 680.

Donnelly Fails to Timely Update Executive’s and United’s Forms
TA-1 despite Multiple Deficiency Letters

Generally, Rule 17Ac2-1(c) requires that whenever the information contained within a
transfer agent’s application for registration (Form TA-1) changes or becomes misleading or
incomplete as stated, it is the responsibility of the agent to correct the Form TA-1 by filing an
amendment within sixty days of the occurrence of the change. See 17 C.F.R. 8 240.17Ac2-1(c).
Form TA-1, which has been a requirement since 1975, requests “basic information” regarding
the registered agent’s business and activities. See Notice of Adoption of Rule 17Ac2-1 and
Related Form TA-1, 8 SEC Docket 203, 205 (Oct. 22, 1975). In 1986, the information requested
by Form TA-1 was modified slightly to exclude information being captured through the annual
reporting process (Form TA-2) and to include the “SEC Supplement” for independent, non-
issuer agents registered with the Commission, which “solicits background information for the
owners and other control persons . . . with particular emphasis on whether offenses have been
committed by these persons . . . [that] would have an impact on the transfer agent’s ability to
perform its functions properly.” See 35 SEC Docket at 680. At the time of Form TA-1’s
revision, Rule 17Ac2-1(c) was also revised to extend the time for filing amendments to Form
TA-1 from twenty-one days to sixty days. See 35 SEC Docket at 679-80, 682.

Four separate Commission examinations of United and Executive occurring from 2002
through 2006 revealed violations of Rule 17Ac2-1(c), which were noted in the deficiency letters
that followed each exam. (Ex. 2 at 6; Ex. 8 at 1; Ex. 10 at 1; Ex. 11a at 1; Ex. 11b at 1.) The
first of these violations was noted in the staff’s August 26, 2002, deficiency letter. (Div. Aff. at
2; Ex. 2 at 6; Ex. 10 at 1.) As previously discussed, United was sanctioned on two occasions by
the Commission for violations of the Exchange Act and various rules thereunder, which resulted
in the issuance of two separate cease-and-desist orders. See 70 SEC Docket 1276 (1999 cease-
and-desist order), 75 SEC Docket 395 (2001 cease-and-desist order). Donnelly was also subject
to the cease-and-desist order issued in the Commission’s 2001 administrative proceeding. See
75 SEC Docket 395. The principle purpose of the SEC Supplement is to disclose offenses
committed by the transfer agent and persons associated with the transfer agent and the 1999 and
2001 proceedings against United and Donnelly include the offenses envisioned in that purpose.
See 35 SEC Docket at 680. However, an amended SEC Supplement to Form TA-1 reflecting
these offenses was not filed until after the Commission’s August 26, 2002, deficiency letter.
(Div. Aff. at 2; Ex. 2 at 6; Ex. 12 at 1.) An amendment should have been filed within sixty days
of the respective Commission orders, 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ac2-1(c), which would have been
October 25, 1999, for the first cease-and-desist order against United, 70 SEC Docket 1276, and



July 31, 2001, for the orders against Donnelly and United, 75 SEC Docket 395. The amended
Form TA-1 was filed on September 26, 2002. (Div. Aff. at 2; Ex. 2 at 6; Ex. 12 at 1.) This date
is outside the sixty days required, and, therefore, the late filing is a violation of Rule 17Ac2-1(c).

In late 2003 through early 2004, the Commission performed another examination on
United and its first examination of Executive since Donnelly’s assumption of its ownership. (EX.
2 at 2.) These separate examinations both resulted in the issuance of deficiency letters sent from
the staff on March 5, 2004. (Ex. 2 at 3; Ex. 11a; Ex. 11b.) These letters noted the occurrence of
the following events, which required an amended Form TA-1 to be filed for each agent: (1)
Donnelly’s common control of United and Executive (Div. Aff. at 2; Ex. 11a at 1; Ex. 11b at 1),
(2) the existing cease-and-desist order against Donnelly (Div. Aff. at 2; Ex. 11b at 1.), and (3) the
removal of Jack Kelley as CEO and Teresa Kelley as owner of Executive (Ex. 11b at 1), with
events (2) and (3) applicable only to Executive.

In addressing the issue of common control of United and Executive, Donnelly has made
repeated claims that the staff was wrong with regard to the business transaction that occurred
between United and Executive. (Answer at 2, 4; Resp’t Br. at 1.) He claims not to have
controlled two registered transfer agents, and he claims not to have acquired Executive, only its
records. (1d.) However, regardless of the form of the acquisition or the kind of business
transaction Donnelly thought he was conducting, the fact is that United and Executive were two
separately registered transfer agents and Donnelly was in control of both. (Ex. 2 at 2-3.) A
review of the filings made with the Commission shows that Donnelly filed forms under the two
separate registrations (084-01522 for United and 084-00866 for Executive), and Donnelly used
the same registration for Executive that was used prior to the “acquisition.” On November 4,
2003, the Commission received a Form TA-1 for Executive signed by Donnelly, which was an
“Amendment to Registration.” This form listed Donnelly as the president, owner, and control
person of Executive since September 2003 and with Executive’s principal office in Englewood,
Colorado. Prior to the receipt of the November 2003 form, the most recent Form TA-1 was
received on August 19, 2003, listing the address of the agency’s principal office as Phoenix,
Arizona, Jack Kelley as its CEO, and Teresa Kelley as its owner, with both Kelleys as control
persons. On January 24, 2004, the Commission received another Form TA-1 from Donnelly
listed as an “Amendment to Registration,” in which the Kelleys were listed in the “Deleted”
section of previously reported persons.

Donnelly contends that United acquired only the records of Executive and then
subsequently decided to change United’s name to Executive Registrar & Transfer, Inc. (Answer
at 2; Resp’t Br. at 1). However, this is inconsistent with the corporate records for each company,
filed both with the Commission and the State of Colorado. According to the records on file with
the State of Colorado, United and Executive were incorporated separately, as noted above in
Parts 11.A. and I1.B. of this decision. Further, when Executive was incorporated in Colorado in
December 2003, the name given was Executive Registrar & Transfer Agency, Inc. It was not
until June 2004 that Executive filed a change of name with Colorado. As also noted above, each
company had its own registration with the Commission. Therefore, until United withdrew its
registration in the Form TA-W filed with the Commission on February 6, 2008, Donnelly, as the
control person for each company, was in common control of two registered transfer agents. No
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amendment to either United’s or Executive’s Forms TA-1 was ever filed and certainly none was
filed within the required sixty days. Thus, both United and Executive violated Rule 17Ac2-1(c).

As for the other two events cited in the March 5, 2004, deficiency letter to Executive, the
cease-and-desist order against Donnelly and the removal of the Kelleys as officer and owner,
Donnelly responded to these deficiencies in a reply letter to the staff on April 2, 2004. (Ex. 13 at
1.) Inthat letter, Donnelly admitted his oversight in failing to include his cease-and-order on the
Form TA-1 that he filed on November 4, 2003, when he took over Executive, and he stated that
he had been unaware of the Kelleys’ August 11, 2003, filing of an amended Form TA-1. (ld.)
Donnelly was made aware of these two deficiencies during the Commission’s examination of
Executive from November 18, 2003, through January 14, 2004 (Ex. 2 at 2), and on January 24,
2004, he filed an amended Form TA-1. However, as with the previous deficiencies relating to
the filing of Form TA-1 amendments, this filing was at least fifty-four days past®® the sixty days
required by Rule 17Ac2-1(c) and was a violation of this rule.

Lastly, during a Commission examination of Executive performed May 15-18, 2006,
another violation of Rule 17Ac2-1(c) was noted by the staff. (Ex. 2 at 2, 6-7.) In that instance,
Marguerite Donnelly, who according to Commission records had been added as a Director of
Executive in a Form TA-1/A, filed on August 3, 2004, had since ceased to be a Director. (Ex. 2
at 6-7; Ex. 8 at 1.) The staff noted during the examination and in a deficiency letter dated June
27, 2006, that Executive had failed to file timely an amended Form TA-1 noting this change.
(Ex. 8 at 1.) Donnelly replied to the letter on November 14, 2006, recognized the error, and
made assurances that future oversight would not occur. (Ex. 9 at 1.) An amended Form TA-1
removing Marguerite Donnelly as a Director was filed on May 19, 2006, forty-seven days past
the deadline for filing such amendments. (Div. Aff. at 2; Ex. 8 at 1.)%

From 2002 through 2006, the Commission examination staff found seven violations of
Rule 17Ac2-1(c). (Ex. 2 at 6-7.) These violations were caused by Donnelly’s failure, as the
control person for Executive, to file amended Forms TA-1 when events, such as the issuance of
the 1999 and 2001 cease-and-desist orders, changes in leadership, and common control of
agencies, occurred that required amendments to be made. (Ex. 8 at 1; Ex. 10 at 1; Ex. 11a at 1;
Ex. 11b at 1.) Additionally, each of these violations constitutes a separate violation of the 2001
cease-and-desist order against Donnelly, 75 SEC Docket at 397, requiring that he not further
violate Rule 17Ac1-2 and that he assure that supplemental reports to Form TA-1 are timely filed.
(Div. Aff. at 2.)

% The amendments should have been filed within 60 days of Donnelly’s assumption of control
of Executive, which he lists in Executive’s Form TA-1 as occurring in September 2003. Thus,
given the latest possible assumption date of September 30, 2003, the amendments were due by
November 29, 2003, which as a Saturday would be pushed by the Commission’s rules to
December 1, 2003.

% The Division provides a filing date of May 16, 20086, for this amended Form TA-1; however,
the Commission’s records in the EDGAR database show a May 19, 2006, filing date. Regardless
of which date is correct, the Form TA-1 was submitted after the allowed time.
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Executive Fails to File Annual Reports (Form TA-2)

Rule 17Ac2-2(a) requires that every registered transfer agent file an annual report of its
activities on a Form TA-2 by March 31 following the end of the reporting year. See 17 C.F.R. 8
240.17Ac2-2(a). As originally adopted, this rule allowed agents until August 31 to file the
report. See 35 SEC Docket at 682. However, the current March 31 deadline was established in
2000 when the Commission realigned the end of the reporting period to coincide with the end of
the calendar year. See Revised Transfer Agent Form and Related Rule, 72 SEC Docket 1722,
1723 (June 2, 2000). The Commission notes that the completion of the Form TA-2 “require[s] a
minimal dedication of resources,” as the Form can be completed without the assistance of an
accountant or attorney and requests information that is already maintained by transfer agents
because of other Commission or Federal regulations. See 35 SEC Docket at 681. Furthermore,
the information collected on the Form TA-2 helps the Commission more effectively monitor
agent activities. See 35 SEC Docket at 680.

During the Commission examination of Executive conducted on May 15-18, 2006, the
examination staff noted that Executive had failed to file an annual report on Form TA-2 by the
March 31, 2006, deadline. (Ex. 2 at 7; Ex. 8 at 1.) At the time of the examination, no report for
2005 had been filed. (Ex. 8 at 1.) Executive’s Form TA-2 for the period ending December 31,
2005, was subsequently filed, following the examination, on May 19, 2006, according to the files
in the Commission’s EDGAR database.

A deficiency letter noting the failure to timely file its Form TA-2 was sent to Executive
on June 27, 2006. (Ex. 8 at 1.) That letter requested a response within thirty days of receipt.
(Ex. 8 at 2.) However, it was not until Executive was in the midst of another Commission
examination from November 13-15, 2006 (Ex. 2 at 2), that Donnelly replied to the previous
deficiency notice (Ex. 9). In his reply, dated November 14, 2006, Donnelly claimed that the
filing was late owing to an “oversight of the change in filing date,” but he promised that “[f]uture
filings [would] be processed on time.” (Ex. 9 at 1.) Donnelly reiterated his claim that the delay
in filing was due to a lack of knowledge regarding the due date change in his Answer to the
institution of these proceedings. (Answer at 4.)

As noted above, the Commission’s change in filing date was not new; it was announced
in June 2000, with the first filing under the new deadline coming in March 31, 2001. See 72
SEC Docket at 1722, 1723. Furthermore, since the change took effect, Donnelly, as the control
person of United and then Executive, managed to timely file Executive’s 2003 annual report and
United’s 2002 and 2001 annual reports; according to the Commission’s EDGAR database, these
reports were filed on March 30, 2004, March 31, 2003, and March 28, 2002, respectively.

However, a review of EDGAR also reveals that Executive never filed a Form TA-2 for
the 2004, 2006, or 2007 annual periods.®*® (Ex. 2 at 7.) The May 19, 2006, Form TA-2, filed

% The Division does not include the 2004 annual report among Executive’s list of violations;
however, a review of the Commission’s files in the EDGAR database clearly shows that no Form
TA-2 was filed by March 31, 2005. Further, a review of the Forms TA-2 that were filed by
Executive contain no information for the period ending December 31, 2004.
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only after the staff noted the missing 2005 report, was the last annual report filed for Executive.
(Id.) Thus, despite Donnelly’s assurances that Executive would become up-to-date in its Forms
TA-2 and would not miss required future reports (Ex. 9 at 1), Executive has no Forms TA-2 on
file for the years 2004, 2006, or 2007 (Ex. 2 at 7).

Including the late filing of Executive’s 2005 annual report, Executive, through Donnelly,
has a total of four violations of Rule 17Ac2-2(a). As was the case with the violations of Rule
17Ac2-1, these violations of Rule 17Ac2-2 also constitute violations of the cease-and-desist
order currently imposed on Donnelly. See 75 SEC Docket at 397.

3. Executive’s Failure to Comply with Rules to Ensure Accurate Settlement of
Securities Transactions and Proper Controls of the Agent’s Processes

After almost ten years of operating the regulatory program for transfer agents, the
Commission determined that additional requirements were necessary for investor protection and
the efficient operation of the national clearance and settlement system. See Maintenance of
Accurate Securityholder Files and Safeguarding of Funds and Securities by Registered Transfer
Agents, 28 SEC Docket 81, 82 (June 10, 1983). “The Commission noted that whenever transfer
agents fail to perform their activities promptly, accurately, and safely, the securities clearance
and settlement process suffers.” Id. It was at this time that the Commission adopted several
rules including Rules 17Ad-10 and 17Ad-13 relating to creation and maintenance of
securityholder files, id. at 84-88, and the annual study of an agent’s internal controls, id. at 91-
94.

Executive’s Control Books Out-of-Balance with Master
Securityholder Files

In relevant part, Rule 17Ad-10 holds that transfer agents shall (1) “promptly and
accurately” post all debits and credits to a master securityholder file, (2) keep control books
“current” and *“accurate,” and (3) “exercise diligent and continuous attention to resolve all record
differences.” See 17 C.F.R. 8 240.17Ad-10(a), (b), (¢). Rule 17Ad-9 provides clarification to
this rule noting that “[a] record difference occurs when . . . [t]he total number of shares or total
principal dollar amount of securities in the master securityholder file does not equal the number
of shares or principal dollar amount in the control book.” See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-9(g)(1).

During a Commission examination of Executive which started on November 18, 2003
(Ex. 2 at 2), the examination staff reviewed Executive’s master securityholder files and control
book for accuracy and agreement (Ex. 11b at 3). In this review, the staff discovered three
instances where security issuers listed in Executive’s control book could not be reconciled to the
master securityholder files. (Ex. 2 at 7-8; Ex. 11b at 3.) A deficiency letter, sent on March 5,
2004, following the examination, noted these three out-of-balance conditions. (Ex. 11b at 1, 3-
4.) In a letter dated April 2, 2004, Donnelly responded to the deficiency letter with conflicting
statements that Executive’s books were accurate and in balance, but that any inaccuracy was due
to the condition the books were in when Donnelly received them from the former owners of
Executive and that one of the deficiencies was irrelevant because Executive was no longer the
transfer agent for the out-of-balance issuer. (Ex. 13 at 2.) Later, in his Answer to these
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proceedings, Donnelly simply claimed that he could not recall any out-of-balance issuers.
(Answer at 4.) Finally, in his response to the Division’s Motion for Summary Disposition,
Donnelly argued that the claimed violations were incorrect because he was later able to balance
the two issuers who had not discharged Executive. (Resp’t Br. at 2.)

However, despite Donnelly’s conflicting rebuttals, the fact remains that, during the
examination, the records for three issuers were out-of-balance. (Ex. 2 at 7-8; Ex. 11b at 3; Ex.
14 at 3.) The staff replied to Donnelly’s April 2 letter on June 2, 2004. (Ex. 14 at 1.) In this
letter, the staff noted that while Donnelly was able to balance the control book with the master
securityholder files for these issuers, he did so only after the staff alerted him to the out-of-
balance conditions. (Ex. 14 at 3.) Further, the staff noted that the necessary documents to
complete the balancing were in Executive’s possession but the control book and master
securityholder files were not balanced because Donnelly failed to properly inventory the files
and records when he took possession of them from the former owners of Executive. (1d.) Thus,
Executive, through Donnelly, violated Rule 17Ad-10 by failing to “promptly and accurately”
post items, by failing to have its control book “current” and “accurate,” and by failing to give
“diligent and continuous attention” to record differences. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-10(a), (b),
(e). These failures are evidenced by the fact that, during the Commission’s examination, there
were three out-of-balance conditions. (Ex. 2 at 7-8; Ex. 11b at 3; Ex. 14 at 3.)

This violation of Rule 17Ad-10 is compounded by the fact that the 2001 cease-and-desist
order in place against Donnelly forbade further violations of this exact rule. See 75 SEC Docket
at 397. Thus, when the staff found deficiencies relating to Rule 17Ad-10, Donnelly was in
violation of the cease-and-desist order as well.

Executive Fails to Complete and File Annual Study and Evaluation
of Internal Controls for Four Years

Rule 17Ad-13 requires that registered transfer agents annually file a report prepared by
an independent accountant that details that accountant’s study of the agent’s internal accounting
controls and related record-keeping and securities safeguarding procedures. See 17 C.F.R. 8
240.17Ad-13(a). This report must be submitted within ninety days after the date of the study.
Id. Executive was warned in two separate deficiency letters that it was not in compliance with
this rule. (Ex. 5 at 2; Ex. 8 at 2.) Executive has failed to file annual reports for the past four
years, 2004-2007. (Ex. 2 at5; Ex. 7 at2.)

Even though these deficiencies occurred over several years, Donnelly and Executive
blamed the failure to file the reports on the misunderstanding and loss of Executive’s accountant.
(Answer at 4; Resp’t Letter at 5; Ex. 6 at 3; Ex. 9 at 1.) Donnelly, himself, admitted that he
should have just hired a new accountant. (Answer at 4.) Executive still has yet to file any of its
delinquent annual studies. (Ex. 2 at5.)

Furthermore, Donnelly had already been ordered to cease and desist from violating Rule
17Ad-13. See 75 SEC Docket at 397. However, Donnelly contends that he does not “recall
having a problem with [the] internal audit” in the past, and, thus, he does not “understand how
[the failure to file the report for four years] was a violation of the cease-and-desist order.”
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(Resp’t Letter at 5.) The administrative proceeding against United and Donnelly resulted in a
settlement which clearly states that Donnelly consented to the finding that United failed to timely
and properly file annual reports in accordance with Rule 17Ad-13 and that Donnelly, as the
principal person in charge of United’s compliance, did willfully aid and abet and cause these
failures. See 75 SEC Docket 396-97. His lack of recollection notwithstanding, Donnelly was
ordered to cease and desist from future violations of Rule 17Ad-13. Executive has clearly
violated this rule. As control person for Executive, Donnelly is responsible for Executive’s
violation and, therefore, is in violation of the cease-and-desist order. (Ex. 2 at 5.)

4. Executive’s and United’s Failures to Notify the Depository Trust & Clearing
Company of Termination as Transfer Agent.

Rule 17Ad-16(a) requires that when a registered transfer agent stops servicing a given
issuer, the agent must send written notice of termination to the “qualified registered securities
depository” ten days prior to the effective date of the termination or on the day the agent is
notified of the effective date, whichever date is later. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-16(a). “Rule
17Ad-16 [wa]s designed to address a current and continuing problem of transfer delays due to
unannounced transfer agent changes, including the change of a transfer agent for a particular
issue.” See Notice of Assumption or Termination of Transfer Agent Services, 58 SEC Docket
409, 409 (Dec. 1, 1994).

This rule was violated by United and aided and abetted by Donnelly, according to the
June 2001 cease-and-desist order consented to by Donnelly. See 75 SEC Docket at 396.
Because of this previous violation, the 2001 order required that Donnelly and United cease-and-
desist from committing further violations of Rule 17Ad-16 and required that procedures be
created to assure that depositories are notified in a timely manner. Id. at 397-98. Despite the
cease-and-desist order, the staff noted in a March 5, 2004, deficiency letter that United had failed
to inform the DTC of its termination as to two issuers. (Ex. 2 at 9; Ex. 11a at 3-4.)

In the first of these two instances, United was informed by the terminating issuer on
October 16, 2003, that its services were being discontinued. (Ex. 1la at 4.) United, acting
through Donnelly, withheld the issuer’s documentation and its own written notice of termination
until a certain fee was paid. (Id.) According to the staff’s review of the contract between the
issuer and United, the fee was not contemplated under the terms of the contract. (Id.) United
failed to file its written notice of termination with the DTC within the regulated time allowed.

(1d.)

In the second instance, the issuer informed United of its termination on December 4,
2003, and set an effective date of December 9, 2003. (Ex. 11a at 3.) United did not send notice
of its termination to the DTC until December 23, 2003. (Ex. 11a at 4.) Not only was this notice
late under the terms of Rule 17Ad-16, but again, United withheld documentation and claimed it
was owed an unwarranted fee. (Ex. 11a at 3.) When United did send its notice to the DTC, it
listed an incorrect effective date of December 31, 2003. (Ex. 11aat 4.)

Donnelly never replied to the staff regarding the deficiency letter noting these failures.
(Ex. 14 at 3.) In his Answer to these proceeding, Donnelly claimed that it was his policy not to
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notify the DTC or to return an issuer’s documents until he received payment that he deemed he
was owed. (Answer at 4.) Later, Donnelly claimed that it was United, not the issuers, who
terminated services and that these terminations were because the issuers refused to sign an
updated contract with United. (Resp’t Br. at 2.) Nowhere in the language of the rule or in the
Commission release adopting Rule 17Ad-16 does it allow for such a delay. Regardless of what
Donnelly thought he was owed, he was obligated to notify the DTC in a timely fashion when he
was terminated by the above referenced issuers. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-16. United and
Donnelly did not send the notices within the allowed time period and, therefore, violated Rule
17Ad-16 and the cease-and-desist order against them.

Donnelly’s deficiencies with Rule 17Ad-16(a) continued when he was in control of
Executive, as noted by the staff in correspondence following the November 2006 examination of
Executive. (Ex. 7 at 4.) In a letter dated June 12, 2007, the staff noted that Executive had been
terminated by an issuer on December 19, 2006, effective December 29, 2006. (1d.) Executive
failed to notify the DTC until January 12, 2007. (1d.) Similar to previous failures, Donnelly
claimed that he was withholding the notice of termination until past due invoices were paid.
(Resp’t Letter at 6-7.) As noted before, this is not allowed by the rule; therefore, Executive and
Donnelly violated Rule 17Ad-16 by failing to submit the written notice of termination on time
and Donnelly violated the 2001 cease-and-desist order.

5. Executive’s and United’s Lack of Established Written Procedures

The rules regulating transfer agents contain several provisions which call for the
establishment and maintenance of certain written procedures relating to how the agent transacts
certain business and handles certain requests. Of particular relevance to this proceeding are
Rules 17Ad-15(c), 17Ad-17(c), and 17Ad-19(b). They generally require written procedures for
the acceptance of signature guarantees, the methodology for conducting lost securityholder
searches, and the handling and disposition of securities certificates, respectively.

Rule 17Ad-15(c) requires transfer agents to establish written standards for the acceptance
of guarantees of securities transfers and written guidelines to ensure that those standards are used
in the acceptance or rejection of such guarantees. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-15(c). The
Commission adopted this rule in 1992 in order to ensure the equitable treatment of eligible
guarantor institutions and to facilitate the monitoring of agent compliance to the rule. See
Acceptance of Signature Guarantees from Eligible Guarantor Institutions, 50 SEC Docket 1054,
1059 (Jan. 6, 1992). Despite requests by those commenting on the rule, the Commission
declined to set uniform standards or take a role in approving standards. 1d.

Rule 17Ad-17(c) commands transfer agents to maintain written procedures which
describe the transfer agent’s methodology for searching for lost securityholders in compliance
with the other provisions of this rule. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-17(c). Because transfer agents
are often the custodians of securityholder information for issuers, they often aid in the
dissemination of issuer information to securityholders; as such, it is vital that agents have up-to-
date information about securityholders for issuers they service. See Lost Securityholders, 65
SEC Docket 1957, 1957 (Oct. 1, 1997). To facilitate the locating of lost securityholder
information, the Commission has espoused minimum search procedure standards, id., which
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include the conducting of two database searches within the first year and follow-up searches
conducted several months later, 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-17(a)(1)(i)-(ii). Furthermore, the rule
requires that the agent’s search procedures be written and that the agent is able to demonstrate its
compliance with the rule. See 65 SEC Docket at 1960.

Rule 17Ad-19(b) holds that every registered transfer agent “shall establish and implement
written procedures for the cancellation, storage, transportation, destruction, or other disposition
of securities certificates.” See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-19(b). This rule was established to
improve the safety and efficiency of processing securities certificates.  Until cancelled
certificates are disposed of, they can be used for fraudulent purposes; better procedures help
reduce the risk of fraud. See Processing Requirements for Cancelled Security Certificates, 81
SEC Docket 3265, 3265 (Dec. 16, 2003).

On July 22-23, 2002, the staff conducted a books and records review of United. (Ex. 2 at
2.) Following that review, the staff sent a detailed letter on August 26, 2002, outlining ways in
which United’s written procedures for searching for lost securityholders were deficient as to the
minimum standards set by Rule 17Ad-17(a)(1)(i)-(ii). (Ex. 10 at 2.) Further, the letter noted that
United was also deficient with regard to Rule 17Ad-17(c), as it could not produce records to
demonstrate compliance with the minimum search requirements. (Ex. 10 at 2-3.) Failure to
maintain such records is also a violation of Section 17(a)(3) of the Exchange Act, which is
discussed below in Part I1.E. of this decision.

Donnelly replied to the staff’s letter on September 25, 2002, noting that he had amended
United’s written search procedures and included a section on retaining records of the searches
conducted, as required by Rule 17Ad-17. (Ex. 12 at 1-2.) United’s violation of this rule was not
specifically addressed by Donnelly in any of his writings submitted during this proceeding.
Donnelly’s September 2002 response acquiescing to the staff’s deficiency letter established that
United, through Donnelly, violated Rule 17Ad-17. This was also a violation of the cease-and-
desist orders in place for United and Donnelly. See 75 SEC Docket at 397.

Starting in November 2003 and continuing through January 2004, the staff conducted a
review of Executive. (Ex. 2 at 2.) During this review, the staff noted that Executive was
deficient in its maintenance of written procedures relating to Rules 17Ad-15(c) and 17Ad-17(c).
(Ex. 2 at 8, 9; Ex. 11b at 4.) In a deficiency letter dated March 5, 2004, to Executive and
Donnelly, the staff explained that Executive’s written standards and procedures were reviewed
and the staff determined that no written procedures existed for Executive with regard to signature
guarantee acceptance standards or procedures for searching for lost securityholders. (Ex. 11b at
4.

On April 2, 2004, Donnelly replied to the staff’s letter. (Ex. 13.) In his reply, he stated
that he did not recall the staff asking for these written standards and procedures and he felt he
was in compliance with these rules. (Ex. 13 at 2.) To this, the staff noted on June 2, 2004, that
the examinations of United and Executive, conducted during overlapping periods in 2003 to
2004, revealed that while United had such written standards and procedures, none existed
explicitly for Executive. (Ex. 14 at 3.) Executive was, therefore, in violation of Rules 17Ad-
15(c) and 17Ad-17(c). The staff noted that because United and Executive were separately

17



registered agencies, they needed separately written standards and procedures. (Ex. 2 at 8, 9-10,
Ex. 14 at 3.)

During this proceeding, Donnelly’s explanation of why these deficiencies occurred
changed. In his Answer he claimed the written procedures for acceptance of signature
guarantees were misplaced at the time of the examination and that the written procedures for lost
securityholder searches had been in the process of being written. (Answer at 4, 5.) Donnelly
also claimed that if there was a deficiency with written procedures for lost securityholder
searches, it was because he was not provided any recommendations by the staff as to how to
write the procedures. (Resp’t Br. at 1.) However, Rule 17Ad-17 does provide minimum
standards as to what search procedures an agent should undertake in searching for lost
securityholders. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-17; 50 SEC Docket at 1059.

Donnelly claims that both written procedures are now in place (Answer at 4, 5), as they
should have been at the time of the examination. Regardless of whether the written procedures
are in place now, the fact remains that, at the time of the examination, Donnelly admitted that the
written procedures were not available, and, thus, Executive was in violation of Rules 17Ad-15(c)
and 17Ad-17(c). Additionally, Donnelly violated the 2001 cease-and-desist order by causing, as
control person for Executive, the violations of these rules. 75 SEC Docket at 397.

From May 15 to 18, 2006, the staff performed another review of Executive. (Ex. 2 at 2.)
At this review, deficiencies were found with Executive’s written procedures relating to the
handling and disposition of securities certificates required under Rule 17Ad-19(b). (Ex. 2 at 11;
Ex. 8 at 2.) In particular, the staff noted that Rule 17Ad-19(c) sets forth minimum standards that
must be included in the agent’s written procedures required under Rule 17Ad-19(b) and that
Executive’s written procedures failed to cover all of those minimum standards. (Ex. 8 at 2.)
Rule 17Ad-19(c)(5) requires that an agent’s written procedures include information on the
process for physical transportation of cancelled certificates and the maintenance of a record of all
CUSIP and certificate numbers in transit.>> See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-19(c)(5). Executive’s
procedures failed to include this minimum information. (Ex. 8 at 2.)

On November 14, 2006, Donnelly replied to the staff’s deficiency letter sent June 27,
2006, which had noted this lack of compliance to Rule 17Ad-19. (Ex. 9.) In his reply, Donnelly
did not claim that the staff was incorrect in its assessment of the failure of Executive’s
procedures (Ex. 9 at 2); rather, he recited what he claimed was Executive’s procedure for
handling securities certificates. (Answer at 5; Ex. 9 at 2.) However, the staff was not provided
evidence of written procedures that met the requirements of Rules 17Ad-19(b) and (c)(5) when
requested during its examination of Executive, thus violating Rule 17Ad-19. (Ex. 8 at 2.)

1 Rule 17Ad-19(a)(5) defines the term CUSIP number as “the unique identification number that
is assigned to each securities issue.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-19(a)(5).
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E. Executive’s and United’s Violations of Exchange Act Rules Concerning Records and
Reports

Section 17(a)(3) requires transfer agents registered under Section 17A to “make and keep
for prescribed periods such records, furnish such copies thereof, and make such reports as the
[Commission], by rule, prescribes as necessary.” See 15 U.S.C. § 78¢(a)(3). Rules 17Ad-6 and
17Ad-7 work in tandem to describe the records that transfer agents must maintain and lay out for
how long these records must be kept. See Recordkeeping Requirements for Registered Transfer
Agents, 81 SEC Docket 3310, 3310 (Dec. 18, 2003). Of relevance to this proceeding, Rules
17Ad-6(a)(6) and (8) hold generally that an agent must maintain all written inquiries and the
agent’s responses thereto and must maintain all writings supporting the agent’s appointment and
termination by an issuer. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17Ad-6(a)(6) and (8). Relatedly, Rules 17Ad-7(a)
and (c) require retention for two years for records kept pursuant to Rule 17Ad-6(a)(6) and
permanent retention for Rule 17Ad-6(a)(8) records, with these records being “easily accessible”
for six months and one year, respectively. See 17 C.F.R. 8 240.17Ad-7(a) and (c).

Starting on November 18, 2003, the staff conducted overlapping examinations of
Executive and United, which were both operating under separate Commission registration
numbers and both under Donnelly’s control at the time. (Ex. 2 at 2.) The examination continued
on Executive until January 14, 2004, and took place on United from December 10, 2003, through
February 24, 2004. (Id.) Following these examinations, the staff sent two deficiency letters on
March 5, 2004, one to United and one to Executive. (Exs. 1la, 11b.) The staff found
deficiencies with both agencies with regard to Rules 17Ad-6 and 17Ad-7, as certain records were
not made available to the staff during the examinations and, therefore, violated the rules both
requiring records and their retention. (Ex. 2 at 10-11; Ex. 11a at 2-3; Ex. 11b at 2-3.) The
deficiency letters cited or described United’s and Executive’s failures in keeping records
required under Rules 17Ad-6(a)(2), (6), (7), and (8) and the related violations of Rule 17Ad-7
caused by those failures. (Ex. 1la at 2-3, 4; Ex. 11b at 2-3.) The OIP charges only violations of
Rules 17Ad-6(a)(6) and (8) and 17Ad-7(a) and (c). (OIP at4.)

The March deficiency letters noted that when records of corporate correspondence
required by Rule 17Ad-5 were requested, such records were not produced by United for two
issuers (Ex. 11a at 2) or by Executive for five issuers (Ex. 11b at 1-2), in violation of Rule 17Ad-
6(a)(6). Further, the letters noted that, as a result of the recordkeeping deficiencies, United and
Executive violated Rule 17Ad-7. (Ex. 1la at 3; Ex. 11b at 3.) Similarly, in discussing
deficiencies relating to Rule 17Ad-16, the March letter to United observed that United did not
maintain a copy of an issuer’s October 16, 2003, letter of termination (Ex. 11a at 4), in violation
of Rules 17Ad-6(a)(8) and 17Ad-7(c). Lastly, the March letter to Executive noted that the
agency had failed to maintain copies of letters of appointment for five of its issuers in violation
of Rules 17Ad-6(a)(8) and 17Ad-7(c). (Ex. 11bat 2, 3.)

Donnelly responded to the staff’s deficiency letters on April 2, 2004, in a letter that
admitted wrongdoing. (Ex. 13 at 1-2.) Donnelly stated that not every call was noted in his
correspondence log. (Ex. 13 at 1.) But with regard to other deficiencies, Donnelly claimed that
all of the documents were in the office’s cabinets. (Ex. 13 at 1, 2.) However, the staff noted that
Donnelly was unable to produce the documents when the staff requested them. (Ex. 14 at 2-3.)

19



Additionally, Donnelly’s inability to provide the requested records and demonstrate compliance
with Rules 17Ad-6 and 17Ad-7 was in violation of the cease-and-desist order imposed on him in
2001.

Furthermore, United violated Rule 17Ad-7(i) by failing to maintain documentation of (1)
its searches for lost securityholders in order to demonstrate compliance with Rule 17Ad-17 and
(2) its written procedures, as required by Rule 17Ad-17(c), a violation already discussed above in
Part 11.D.5. (Ex. 10 at 3.) Rule 17Ad-7(i) requires retention of this documentation for at least
three years with the most recent year’s search records being “easily accessible.” See 17 C.F.R. §
240.17Ad-7(i). Donnelly admitted the lack of documentation in a September 25, 2002, letter to
the staff, though he disavowed any blame on the part of himself or United, placing it instead on
the janitorial staff. (Ex. 12 at 2.) The janitorial staff, however, was not in control of United and,
therefore, was not responsible, as Donnelly was, for United’s compliance with the Commission’s
rules for the maintenance of required documents. The failure to maintain the documents was a
violation of Rule 17Ad-7(i), which also violated the cease-and-desist orders against United and
Donnelly, 75 SEC Docket at 397.

F. Executive’s Violations Concerning Employee Fingerprinting

Section 17(f)(2) states that a transfer agent registered under Section 17A “shall require
that each of its . . . employees be fingerprinted and shall submit such fingerprints . . . for
identification and appropriate processing.” See 15 U.S.C. § 78q(f)(2). Further, Rule 17f-2(a),
promulgated under the authority of Section 17(f)(2), requires that all employees be fingerprinted,
but provides some exceptions to this rule. See 17 C.F.R. § 240.17f-2(a).

Following an examination of Executive conducted on November 13-15, 2006 (Ex. 2. at
2), the staff noted a deficiency with regard to Executive’s failure to process fingerprint cards for
three of its employees (Ex. 5 at 3). The deficiency letter sent February 16, 2007, also noted that
the failure to process the fingerprint cards was a violation by Donnelly of the cease-and-desist
order imposed on him by the Commission. (Id.) Respondents replied to the staff in an April 11,
2007, letter from their attorney and they noted that the failure to process fingerprint cards was
the result of a misunderstanding of the rule on fingerprinting. (Ex. 6 at 5.) The attorney also
submitted the names of five employees whose fingerprint cards were submitted to NASD for
processing. (Id.)

Respondents claimed that, in light of these submissions combined with their mistaken
belief that such cards were unnecessary because the employees only worked for Executive for a
short time, there was no violation of the cease-and-desist order and that Executive was in
compliance. (Answer at 5; Resp’t Letter at 6; Ex. 6 at 5.) However, of the exemptions to the
fingerprinting requirement found in Rule 17f-2(a), length of employment is not among them.
See 17 C.F.R. 8 240.17f-2(a). The exemptions relate to the nature of the employee’s job duties
not length of employment. See id. Therefore, the evidence submitted established that the
submission of the cards was untimely and that it did not alter the fact that a violation did occur.
(Ex. 7 at 3.)
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I11. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

In instituting its rules for transfer agents, the Commission noted that these rules are
intended, among other things *“to assure that registered transfer agents perform their functions in
a prompt and accurate manner” and to require that records be maintained that would allow the
Commission to monitor compliance with the rules, so that transfer agents that perform
inadequately can be detected early. See 12 SEC Docket at 853-54. Respondents Executive and
Donnelly appear to have little regard for the importance the Commission places on the need for
reporting and accurate recordkeeping in its rules for transfer agents. During the five
examinations performed by the staff from 2002 through 2006, numerous deficiencies were found
at Executive and Donnelly’s other registered transfer agent, United. Year-after-year, Donnelly,
as the control person for each company, seemed incapable or unwilling to comply with
Commission rules, as judged by the repeated deficiencies found at agencies under his control.
This situation is further aggravated by the fact that Donnelly was, at the time of these
examinations, and still is, subject to a cease-and-desist order barring him from further violations
of the Commission’s statutes and rules involving transfer agents. By virtue of these numerous
deficiencies and Donnelly’s failure to correct them, Donnelly is in violation of the previous
cease-and-desist order.

A. Primary Liability

The OIP alleges that Executive willfully violated Sections 17(a)(3), 17(f)(2), and
17A(d)(1) of the Exchange Act and Exchange Act Rules 17Ac2-1, 17Ac2-2, 17Ad-2, 17Ad-6,
17Ad-7, 17Ad-10, 17Ad-13, 17Ad-15, 17Ad-16, 17Ad-17, 17Ad-19, and 17f-2. (OIP at 4.)
Willfulness is shown where a person intends to commit an act that constitutes a violation. See
Wonsover v. SEC, 205 F.3d 408, 414 (D.C. Cir. 2000); Tager v. SEC, 344 F.2d 5, 8 (2d Cir.
1965). There is no requirement that the actor must also be aware that it is violating any statutes
or rules. Id.

1. Sections 17A(d)(1) and 17(a)(3) of the Exchange Act and Rules thereunder

Section 17A(d)(1) states that no registered transfer agent shall engage in any activity as a
transfer agent in contravention of any Commission statute or rule. See 15 U.S.C. § 78g-1(